
Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact the Meridian Township Board by contacting:  
Township Manager Frank L. Walsh, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4258 - Ten Day Notice is Required.  
Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Ml 48864 Township Hall 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

AGENDA 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
Economic Development Corporation 

August 3, 2023 7:30 am 
5000 Okemos Road -Central Fire Station 

Meridian Township Hall  

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER
2. MISSION:  Set the standard in creating an entrepreneurial culture; be the example for

revitalization of our business districts and be the leaders in building sustainable public/private
partnerships.

3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
4. CONSENT AGENDA

A. Minutes- Meeting May 4, 2023
B. Financial Report
C. Economic Development Project Report

5. PUBLIC REMARKS
6. OLD BUSINESS
7. NEW BUSINESS

A. Duties of Meridian Economic Development Corporation
B. Training for Economic Development
C. Branded EDC Shopping Bags
D. Proposed 2024 Budget

8. TOWNSHIP REPORTS
A. Township Board
B. Township Manager
C. Planning Commission
D. Chair
E. Staff

9. COMMUNITY REPORTS
A. Meridian Mall
B. MABA

10. OPEN DISCUSSION/BOARD COMMENTS
11. PUBLIC REMARKS
12. NEXT MEETING DATE

A. September 7, 2023, 7:30am 5000 Okemos Road -Central Fire Station

13. ADJOURNMENT



1 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
Charter Township of Meridian 

Meridian Economic Development Corporation 
Central Fire Station, 5000 Okemos Road, Okemos, MI 48864 

Thursday, May 4, 2023– Minutes -DRAFT 
 

Members 
Present: Treasurer Phil Deschaine, Trisha Bird, Chair Kim Thompson, Brenda Chapman, Adam 

Carlson, Dave Ledebuhr, and Manager Frank L. Walsh  

 
Members   

Absent: Shawn Dunham and Trustee Kathy Sundland 
 

 
Others 

Present: Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director Amber Clark, Executive Assistant 
Michelle Prinz, Senior Planner Brian Shorkey, and Planning Commissioner Milton Scales 

 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
 

Chair Thompson called the meeting to order and read the mission statement at 7:30 am. 
 

2. MISSION:  Set the standard in creating an entrepreneurial culture, be the example for 
revitalization of our business districts, and be the leaders in building sustainable public/private 

partnerships. 
 

3. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

 
MOTION BY MEMBER CARLSON TO APPROVE THE AGENDA. SUPPORTED BY MEMBER 

BIRD. MOTION PASSES 6-0.  
 

4. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

a. Minutes-Meeting April 6, 2023  
b. Financial Report  

c. Development Projects 

 
MOTION BY MEMBER CARLSON TO APPROVE THE CONSENT AGENDA.  SUPPORTED BY 

MEMBER BIRD.  MOTION PASSES 6-0. 
 

5. PUBLIC REMARKS 
 

None. 
 

6. NEW BUSINESS 



2 

a. 2023 Meridian Township Pride Festival Support Request

Senior Planner Shorkey announced that Meridian is holding its first LGBTQ+ event on

Saturday, August 26th from 4:00pm-11:00pm at the Marketplace on the Green.  The event

will include entertainment, food trucks, vendors, and a beer & wine garden.  He requested
that the EDC consider a $1,870 donation to the event to fund the stage management.

MOTION BY MEMBER BIRD TO SUPPORT THE 2023 MERIDIAN PRIDE FESTIVAL IN

THE AMOUNT OF $1,500. SUPPORTED BY MEMBER LEDEBUHR. MOTION PASSES 6-0. 

b. 2023 Juneteenth Program Update and Festival Support Request

Director Clark requested the EDC consider a gift of $1,600 to cover the cost of “Tony

Thompson & Friends” at the Blues and Jazz Festival on Saturday, June 17th.  The festival
will include four days of events.  In addition to the Blues and Jazz Festival, there will be

two family movie nights and a Sunday spiritual presentation.  The Juneteenth Festival is in
need of volunteers.

MOTION BY MEMBER LEDEBUHR TO SUPPORT THE 2023 JUNETEETH FESTIVAL IN

THE AMOUNT OF $1,600. SUPPORTED BY MEMBER CARLSON. MOTION PASSES 6-0.

7. TOWNSHIP REPORTS

a. Township Board

None.

b. Township Manager

• Undergoing building renovations at Town Hall and Police

• Windscreens have been installed at the Marketplace on the Green

• New entry signs are being installed

• Health & Safety Expo will take place on 5/9 at 5:00pm-8:00pm at Marketplace on

the Green

• Celebrate Meridian on 6/24

• Working on renovation of Central Park Pavilion

• Submitting $500,000 grant for Red Cedar River cleanup

• Working with CATA to provide Redi-Ride to Meridian without additional cost

• Local roads projects will be $6.3M this year with additional ARP funding

• Prosecutor John Dewane spoke to the Township Board

• Working with a local donor for the Senior Center

c. Planning Commission
Commissioner Scales mentioned that recently they approved two special use permits.  One

for the MSU to Lake Lansing Trail-Phase 2 and one for Haslett Holdings-medical
marihuana at Haslett and Okemos Roads.  Senior Planner Shorkey stated they are working

on the Master Plan Update and there is a community survey on our website to gather
feedback.

d. Chair



3 
 

Chair Thompson discussed that she would like to have a conversation about what the EDC 
does and how the EDC contributes to the community. 

 
e. Staff 

Director Clark reported the following: 

• Village of Okemos public meeting will be on 5/9 at 6:00pm in Town Hall 

• Brownfield was approved for Haslett 2.0 Project 

• Doing a presentation for Indian Hills Homeowners Association on 5/17 

• Discussing providing small business grants/loans through Independent Bank for 

the DDA small/startup businesses 

• Working on MEDC Wrap Grant that is due on June 30th  

• Crumbl Cookie coming near Plato’s Closet 

 

8. COMMUNITY REPORTS 
 

a. Meridian Mall 

None. 
 

b. MABA 
Director Clark reported MABA meeting is next Friday.  Business Expo planning is 

underway.  MABA Golf Outing is on 6/9 at Meridian Sun.  
 

9. OPEN DISCUSSION/BOARD COMMENTS 
 

Treasurer Deschaine mentioned that the sign ordinance update is complete and a small piece of 

land was acquired by Cornell Wood Elementary School. 
 

12.     PUBLIC REMARKS 
 

  None. 
 

13.     NEXT MEETING DATE 
 

• June 1, 2023 at 7:30am  at the Central Fire Station, 5000 Okemos Road 

 

14.     ADJOURNMENT 
 

 Hearing no objection, Chair Thompson adjourned the meeting at 8:34am.   





Amber Clark Neighborhoods &  Economic 
Development Director  Meridian Township  
Economic Development and Projects 
July2023  

New Businesses Opening/Relocating 

• I Heart Mac N Cheese Hannah Plaza
• Kaiyo Sushi 5100 Marsh Road
• Crumbl Cookies 2843 E. Grand River Ave
• Social Sloth Café 1745 Central Park Drive
• New retail establishment 1982 W Grand River - Meridian Mall
• New food establishment at 2398 Jolly Road #200

Under Construction 
1673 Haslett Road – Now Leasing! 
Haslett Road 
Powell Road 
Bennett Road 
Sirhal Drive- Now Leasing! 
Jolly Oak 
Hulett Road 

• American House Meridian
• Copper Creek
• Silverstone Estates
• Silverleaf Estates
• Woodward Way
• Elevation Apartments
• Jim Giguere 5 Single Family
• Newton Ponte Apartments Newton Road and Lake Lansing 

Approved/Not Commenced 
• Consumers Credit Union- waiting on approvals for the Drain office
• Trader Joe’s Northwind Drive across from Whole Foods
• Village of Okemos 4661 Okemos Road Commercial/Residential development

Approved EGLE Brownfield, Meridian Redevelopment Fund
• Haslett Village Concept 2.0 1655 & 1621 Haslett Road

Approved MUPUD 290 units, Brownfield and Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption
• Lake Court drive 4-8 Duplexes
• Grand Reserve –Central Park and Powell Road
• 4880  Marsh Road Tidal Wave Car Wash  - Outback Steakhouse is planned to be

redeveloped

Other Township Happenings: 

• Grand River and Marsh road intersection open, final elements of construction winding
down. To be included in these emails please contact Clark@meridian.mi.us

• Meridian Township Pride Festival August 26th 4pm-10pm at 1995 Central Park Drive



Amber Clark Neighborhoods &  Economic 
Development Director  Meridian 
Township  
Economic Development and Projects  
July 2023  

Project Name Project Site Location Project Details 

American House 
Meridian  

1673 Haslett Road - Haslett *55+ Independent living
132 Units

• 10,000 Sq. Ft Commercial space
includes café open to the public

• Pathway to lead to Interurban
Previously called “Pine Village”- mixed use 
development 

Copper Creek Copper Creek Road - Haslett Single Family Home development 
• 88 Homes at Haslett Road east of

Green road
Product by Mayberry homes. Development is 
nearing completion and almost full! 

Elevation 
Apartments 

Jolly Oak and Jolly road phase Market rate multifamily housing development 
• Phase 3&4 will include 66 units
• 370 units total

 Final phase of elevation apartments has 
started construction.  

Newton Pointe 
Apartments 

6276 Newton Road/Saginaw 
Hwy 

Market rate multifamily housing 
Mixed use residential project  

• 10(10 unit) multifamily bldgs.
• 5(4 unit) single family attached and

14 single family homes
Foundations are in place 

Silverleaf Bennet Road and Hulett Single family homes built over 5 phases. 
• 150 homes west of Bennett

elementary
Product by Mayberry Homes 

Trader Joes Northwind Drive Lost subcontractor and permit has expired 



To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

Meridian Economic Development Corporation 

Amber Clark Director Neighborhoods & Economic Development 

August 3, 2023 

Duties of Meridian Economic Development Corporation  

Summary 
At the previous EDC meeting the Chair requested further discussion regarding the establishment of 
the Meridian EDC. Information related to PA 338 1974, which established the law to allow for the 
organization of Economic Development in the State of Michigan. Our discussion today will be 
regarding the charge of EDC’s in the State, the financial structure of the Meridian EDC and what our 
annual goals are. As our mission states: Set the standard in creating an entrepreneurial culture; be 
the example for revitalization of our business districts and be the leaders in building sustainable 
public/private partnerships.   

Responsibilities of the EDC 
PA 338 of 1974 allows for the creation of public economic development corporations, to provide 
issuance of notes, issuance of bonds, validate bonds, provide for the condemnation of property, 
provide for the undertaking of projects related to economic development, provide loans,, grants, 
transfers and the conveyance of funds, and property by municipalities. Provide for the creation of 
subsidiary neighborhoods development corporations of funds and property; provide for industrial 
and commercial enterprises for enterprises involved in  housing or neighborhoods improvement, 
furnishings, equipment, machinery for industrial and commercial enterprises and housing.  

In 1974 the State created this law as they saw the need to alleviate and prevent conditions of 
unemployment, assist with retaining local industrial and commercial enterprises, to strengthen 
and revitalize the economy of the state and municipalities. This act helps local units of government 
have a vehicle to encourage the location, expansion of industrial and commercial enterprises. It is 
also to promote economic activity in the forestry and agricultural sectors by providing incentives 
to combat inflation, reduce energy consumption, retain family farm units, reduce the rate at which 
urban sprawl has been devouring productive farm lands, and provide for farmers to have a more 
favorable export market. 

“It is also necessary to encourage the development of facilities designed to produce energy from 
renewable resources. Therefore, the powers granted in this act constitute the performance of 
essential public purposes and functions for this state and its municipalities” 

Powers of the Corporation are listed in section 7 detailing the various powers of an EDC to: 
-construct, powers of acquisition of land, reconstruct, improve, maintain, repair, and make loans
(secured with collateral or unsecured), borrow money, issue bonds, secure bonds, make notes,
enter into leases, installment sales, loan agreements. Lend, grant, transfer, or convey funds as
permitted by law.

http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx%3Fmcl-Act-338-of-1974


Another major focus of an EDC is the strategic planning and implementation of a project, project 
plan and project district. For Meridian Township this could be the designated PICA and other 
priority development sites. The establishment of an EDC project will place emphasis on timelines, 
funding mechanisms and power associated with the overall plan. This would include the creation 
of a vehicle to file injunctions against a developer (development) that is not meeting the criteria 
set in the project plan. There are specific steps to establish a project plan, project district including 
public hearings and the adoption of resolution by the EDC and supporting municipal board.  

 Budgetary Considerations 

The annual increase of the Meridian EDC is made through the contribution of funds from the bond 
purchase agreement set between Burcham Hills retirement center II and Meridian Township. The 
original fee agreement was created through the issuance of 1989 Bonds of the EDC on behalf of 
Burcham which obligates Burcham to pay the sum of $10,000 per year through a designated time. 
The reissuance of bonds over time has continued with this agreement kept in place by 
reaffirmation of the purchase agreement and fee agreement.  

Discussion:   
Members have discussed the open ended support of the various Township activities without a 
policy establishing what the Meridian EDC will financially support. It is the recommendation of 
staff to establish a policy in addition to the investment policy of the EDC to define parameters 
related to support. The objective of the Meridian EDC is to elevate, inspire, encourage, support and 
develop within the boundaries of Meridian Township. Specifically related to commercial and 
industrial development.  



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIONS ACT
Act 338 of 1974

AN ACT to provide for the creation of public economic development corporations; to prescribe their
powers and duties; to provide for their dissolution; to provide for the issuance of notes and other evidence of
indebtedness; to provide for the issuance of bonds; to validate bonds, notes, and other evidence of
indebtedness; to provide for condemnation of property; to provide for the undertaking of projects relative to
the economic development of municipalities; to provide for loans, grants, transfers, and conveyances of funds
and property by municipalities, and disbursement of certain funds to public economic development
corporations; to provide for the creation of subsidiary neighborhood development corporations by certain
economic development corporations; to provide for the receipt by public economic development corporations
of funds and property; to provide for industrial and commercial enterprises and for enterprises involved in
housing or neighborhood improvement, and furnishings, equipment, and machinery for the industrial and
commercial enterprises and housing; to validate the incorporation of de facto economic development
corporations and all actions of the de facto corporations; and to provide savings provisions.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan.
22, 1981.

The People of the State of Michigan enact:

125.1601 Short title.
Sec. 1. This act shall be known and may be cited as the “economic development corporations act”.
History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974.

125.1602 Legislative finding.
Sec. 2. There exists in this state the continuing need for programs to alleviate and prevent conditions of

unemployment, and the legislature finds that it is accordingly necessary to assist and retain local industrial
and commercial enterprises, including employee-owned corporations, to strengthen and revitalize the
economy of this state and its municipalities; that accordingly it is necessary to provide means and methods for
the encouragement and assistance of industrial and commercial enterprises, including employee-owned
corporations, in locating, purchasing, constructing, reconstructing, modernizing, improving, maintaining,
repairing, furnishing, equipping, and expanding in this state and in its municipalities; and that it is also
necessary to encourage the location and expansion of industrial and commercial enterprises, including
employee-owned corporations, to more conveniently provide needed services and facilities of the industrial
and commercial enterprises to municipalities and the residents of the municipalities. It is also necessary to
promote economic activity in the forestry and agricultural sectors by providing incentives to combat inflation,
to reduce energy consumption, to retain the family farm unit, to reduce the rate at which urban sprawl has
been devouring our productive farm lands, and to provide our farmers and foresters with a more favorable
export market; all this to be accomplished by reducing costs of production. It is also necessary to encourage
the development of facilities designed to produce energy from renewable resources. Therefore, the powers
granted in this act constitute the performance of essential public purposes and functions for this state and its
municipalities.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan.
22, 1981;Am. 1985, Act 154, Imd. Eff. Nov. 12, 1985.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1603 Definitions.
Sec. 3. As used in this act:
(a) "Corporation" means a corporation organized pursuant to this act.
(b) "Employee-owned corporation" means an employee-owned corporation as defined by the

employee-owned corporation act.
Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 1 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



(c) "Governing body" means the body in which the legislative powers of a municipality are vested.
(d) "Municipality" means a county, city, village, or township.
(e) "Local public agency" means the official body of a municipality authorized to plan and implement the

development and redevelopment of the municipality.
(f) "Project" means land or an interest in land, existing or planned improvements, machinery, furnishings,

or equipment suitable for use by any of the following:
(i) An industrial or commercial enterprise, including agricultural and forestry enterprises and enterprises

designed to produce energy from renewable resources. Projects of an enterprise may include any of the
following:

(A) Necessary buildings, improvements, or structures suitable for and intended for or incidental to use as
an industrial or commercial enterprise.

(B) Industrial park or industrial site improvements or port improvements.
(C) A replacement housing project incidental to an industrial or commercial enterprise.
(D) The machinery, furnishings, leasehold improvements, or equipment necessary, suitable, intended for or

incidental to a commercial, industrial, or residential use in connection with the buildings, improvements, or
structures.

(E) Machinery, furnishings, leasehold improvements, or equipment, including pollution control facilities,
to be installed or used primarily within a project area.

(ii) An enterprise in relation to a housing and neighborhood improvement program, which program
involves either the clearing of land or the rehabilitation or construction of housing for the immediate sale of
single-family or multifamily units at fair market value, or both. Housing and neighborhood improvement
programs identified by this subparagraph shall constitute a project for purposes of this subparagraph if the
area in which these improvement programs are to be undertaken are located in, or are eligible to be included
in, blighted or redevelopment areas identified pursuant to 1945 PA 344, MCL 125.71 to 125.84; the urban
redevelopment corporations law, 1941 PA 250, MCL 125.901 to 125.922; 1975 PA 197, MCL 125.1651 to
125.1681, or the tax increment finance authority act, 1980 PA 450, MCL 125.1801 to 125.1830.

(iii) A transit-oriented development.
(iv) A transit-oriented facility.
(g) "Project area" means that land area or an interest in a land area within the municipality which will be

acquired in the implementation of a project or which will be the permanent site of machinery, furnishings, or
equipment constituting all or part of a project.

(h) "Project citizens district council" means a project citizens district council established pursuant to this
act.

(i) "Project cost" or "costs" means the cost of purchasing, acquiring, constructing, improving, enlarging,
extending, or repairing a project. Project cost or costs includes any engineering, architectural, legal,
accounting, financial, and other expenses incidental to the purchasing, acquiring, constructing, improving,
enlarging, extending, or repairing of a project. Project cost or costs also includes the interest on the bonds and
other obligations issued to pay project costs during the period of construction and after the period of
construction until sufficient revenues have developed. Project cost or costs also includes a reserve or addition
to a reserve for payment of principal and interest on the bonds and the amount required for operation and
maintenance until sufficient revenues have developed.

(j) "Project district area" means that portion of a municipality and any area adjacent to a municipality, as
determined by its governing body, which contains a project area and the surrounding territory that will be
significantly affected by a project.

(k) "Project plan" means that information and those requirements for a project set forth in section 8.
(l) "Pollution control facilities" means water or air pollution control equipment or solid waste disposal

facilities located within or without the limits of the municipality.
(m) "Solid waste disposal facilities" means buildings, plants, structures, equipment, or facilities and their

appurtenances, together with land or an interest in land or a portion of land, for the purpose of treating,
shredding, compression, high temperature incineration, pyrolization, separation, or any other technology for
recovery, transporting, storing, or the final placement and disposal of solid wastes resulting from any process
of industry, manufacture, trade, or business, from the development, processing, or recovery of any natural
resources, or from the operation of any public utility. Solid waste disposal facilities includes buildings, plants,
structures, equipment, or facilities and their appurtenances, together with land or an interest in land or a
portion of land, which qualify as solid waste disposal facilities under section 103(b)(4) of the internal revenue
code.

(n) "Transit-oriented development" means infrastructure improvements that are located within 1/2 mile of
a transit station or transit-oriented facility that promotes transit ridership or passenger rail use.
Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 2 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



(o) "Transit-oriented facility" means a facility that houses a transit station in a manner that promotes transit
ridership or passenger rail use.

(p) "Water and air pollution control equipment" means buildings, plants, structures, equipment, or facilities
and their appurtenances, together with land or an interest in land or a portion of land, for the purpose of
controlling, eliminating, recovering, removing, reducing, dispersing, treating, or neutralizing atmospheric or
water pollutants, including liquid, gaseous, or solid substances or discharges or radiation, or cooling the
temperature of atmospheric or water pollutants, or any liquid, gas, or solid, resulting from any process of
industry, manufacture, trade, or business; the development, processing, or recovery of any natural resources;
or the operation of any public utility, any of which may pollute or may tend to pollute or affect the water or
air of this state or adjacent to this state. Water and air pollution control equipment includes buildings, plants,
structures, facilities, and equipment and their appurtenances, together with land or an interest in land or a
portion of land, used or to be used as a change in a manufacturing, production, generation, transmission, or
distribution process to prevent, reduce, recover, remove, disperse, neutralize, control, or eliminate air or water
pollution. Water and air pollution control equipment includes buildings, plants, structures, equipment, or
facilities and their appurtenances, together with land or an interest in land or a portion of land, which qualify
as air or water pollution control facilities under section 103(b)(4) of the internal revenue code.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1978, Act 467, Imd. Eff. Oct.
16, 1978;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981;Am. 1985, Act 154, Imd. Eff. Nov. 12, 1985;Am. 2010, Act 240, Imd. Eff.
Dec. 14, 2010.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1604 Economic development corporation; incorporation; application; notice; hearing;
approval; board of directors; appointment, qualifications, terms, and compensation of
directors; public meetings; directors as public officers; vacancy; removal; disclosure of
interest; planning commission of certain municipalities serving as board of directors.
Sec. 4. (1) Application, in writing, may be made by a group of 3 or more persons to the governing body for

permission to incorporate the economic development corporation for the municipality. Application shall
include proposed articles of incorporation. The governing body shall give public notice of the application, and
after public hearing, with notice of the hearing given in accordance with section 17(1), may approve the
application. As a part of the approval, the governing body may make such amendments to the proposed
articles of incorporation as it considers appropriate.

(2) The board of directors of the corporation shall consist of not less than 9 persons, not more than 3 of
whom shall be an officer or employee of the municipality. The chief executive officer and any member of the
governing body of the municipality may serve on the board of directors. These directors shall be appointed for
terms of 6 years, except of the directors first appointed, 4 shall be appointed for 6 years, 1 for 5 years, 1 for 4
years, 1 for 3 years, 1 for 2 years, and 1 for 1 year. The corporation shall notify the chief executive officer of
the municipality in writing upon the corporation's designation of the project area as provided in section 8(1),
and there shall be appointed promptly after that notice 2 additional directors of the corporation who shall
serve only in respect to that project and shall be representative of neighborhood residents and business
interests likely to be affected by the project proposed by the corporation and who shall cease to serve when
the project for which they are appointed is either abandoned or, if undertaken, is completed in accordance
with the project plan. Directors shall serve without salary, but may be reimbursed their actual expenses
incurred in the performance of their official duties, and may receive a per diem of not more than $50.00. The
meetings of the board of directors shall be public. Directors shall be public officers.

(3) The chief executive officer of a municipality, with the advice and consent of the governing body, or in
the case of a county where there is not an elected chief executive officer, the chairperson of the county board
of commissioners, with the advice and consent of the county board of commissioners, shall appoint the
members of the board of directors.

(4) Subsequent directors shall be appointed in the same manner as original appointments at the expiration
of each director's term of office.

Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 3 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



(5) A director whose term of office has expired shall continue to hold office until the director's successor
has been appointed with the advice and consent of the governing body. A director may be reappointed with
the advice and consent of the governing body to serve additional terms. If a vacancy is created by death or
resignation or removal by operation of law, a successor shall be appointed with the advice and consent of the
governing body within 30 days to hold office for the remainder of the term of the vacated office.

(6) A director may be removed from office for cause by a majority vote of the governing body.
(7) A director who has a direct interest in any matter before the corporation shall disclose the director's

interest before the corporation takes any action with respect to the matter, which disclosure shall become a
part of the record of the corporation's official proceedings and the interested director shall further refrain from
participation in the corporation's proceedings relating to the matter.

(8) By ordinance, the governing body of a municipality that has a population of less than 5,000 may have
the municipality's planning commission created pursuant to Act No. 285 of the Public Acts of 1931, being
sections 125.31 to 125.45 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, serve as the board of directors provided for in this
section.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1978, Act 467, Imd. Eff. Oct.
16, 1978;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981;Am. 1987, Act 67, Imd. Eff. June 25, 1987.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1605 Approval of application to incorporate and articles of incorporation by resolution;
incorporation pursuant to MCL 125.1628 to 125.1636.
Sec. 5. After the governing body approves the application to incorporate the economic development

corporation and the articles of incorporation by resolution, and the resolution is in effect and is filed with the
secretary of state, the clerk of the municipality shall incorporate the economic development corporation
pursuant to sections 28 to 36.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1978, Act 467, Imd. Eff. Oct.
16, 1978;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1606 Organization of corporation at municipal and county levels; limitation.
Sec. 6. Not more than 1 corporation shall be organized under this act for a municipality, except for

subsidiaries established pursuant to section 6a. If a corporation is organized at the county level, thereafter, a
corporation may be organized for a municipality within that county, the effect of which shall be to exclude
that municipality from subsequent project jurisdiction of the county corporation, except on specific
subsequent consent by the governing body of the municipality. The organization of a corporation at less than
the county level does not preclude the organization of a corporation at the county level for the remainder of
the county. More than 1 corporation may join or cooperate in a project or act together in coordinating more
than 1 project.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of

Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 4 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1606a Subsidiary neighborhood development corporation; creation; powers; exemption
from prevailing wage and fringe benefit rate requirements; disposition of surplus from sale
of property; repayment of bonds or notes.
Sec. 6a. (1) In order to implement section 3(f)(ii), a corporation incorporated by a city with a population of

greater than 750,000 persons may create subsidiary neighborhood development corporations within the city in
which the parent corporation may operate. A subsidiary neighborhood development corporation created
pursuant to this subsection shall have power to conduct business solely for the purpose of a project under
section 3(f)(ii), but in respect to those projects the subsidiary shall have the same powers of a corporation
formed under this act, except as may be limited by the parent corporation in the articles of incorporation or
bylaws of the subsidiary.

(2) To the extent the project involves training for disadvantaged youths, a subsidiary created pursuant to
this section shall be exempt from the requirement of the payment of prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates
described in section 8(4)(h).

(3) Any surplus from the sale of property in the involved project area under section 3(f)(ii), after payment
of principal and interest or other evidences of indebtedness, shall be deposited in a revolving fund of the
corporation creating the subsidiary corporation, which fund shall be restricted to provide revenue for other
projects authorized by section 3(f)(ii), within the city.

(4) When bonds or notes are sold to implement projects under section 3(f)(ii), provision shall be made for
the immediate repayment of the bonds or notes at the time all property in the involved project area is sold.

History: Add. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981;Am. 2002, Act 357, Imd. Eff. May 23, 2002.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1607 Powers of corporation generally.
Sec. 7. (1) In order to accomplish the public purposes set forth in section 2 the corporation may:
(a) Construct, acquire by gift or purchase, reconstruct, improve, maintain, or repair projects and acquire the

necessary land, or an interest in land or portions of the land, for the site of a project.
(b) Acquire by gift or purchase the necessary machinery, furnishings, and equipment for a project.
(c) Make secured or unsecured loans, participate in the making of secured or unsecured loans, undertake

commitments to make secured or unsecured loans and mortgages, sell loans and mortgages at public or
private sale, rewrite loans and mortgages, discharge loans and mortgages, foreclose on a mortgage, or
commence an action to protect or enforce a right conferred upon it by a law, mortgage, loan, contract, or other
agreement.

(d) Borrow money and issue its revenue bonds or revenue notes to finance or refinance part or all of the
project costs and the costs necessary or incidental to the borrowing of money and issuing of bonds or notes for
that purpose, and may secure those bonds and notes by mortgage, assignment, or pledge of any of its money,
revenues, income, and properties. Bonds and notes may be issued under this act to acquire and install projects,
necessary lands, or an interest in the land or a portion of the land, for the site of the project, and the necessary
machinery, furnishings, and equipment for a project notwithstanding that the corporation does not own or
propose to own the projects, lands, or machinery, furnishings, and equipment. The corporation for a
municipality that has a population of more than 1,000,000 persons may combine part or all of the project costs
of more than 1 project for pollution control facilities in a single financing arrangement. However, the bonds
and notes for each project for pollution control facilities shall be secured by a separate agreement and
collateral for each project.

(e) Enter into leases, lease purchase agreements, installment sales contracts or loan agreements with any
person, firm, or corporation for the use or sale of the project.

(f) Mortgage or create security interests in the project, a part of the project, a lease or loan, or the rents,

Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 5 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



revenues, or sums to be paid during the term of a lease or loan, in favor of holders of bonds or notes issued by
the corporation.

(g) Sell and convey the project or any part of the project for a price and at a time as the corporation
determines.

(h) Lend, grant, transfer, or convey funds, described in section 27, as permitted by law, but subject to
applicable restrictions affecting the use of those funds.

(2) Bonds and notes issued under this act are not subject to the revenue bond act of 1933, 1933 PA 94,
MCL 141.101 to 141.140.

(3) Bonds and notes issued under this act are not subject to the revised municipal finance act, 2001 PA 34,
MCL 141.2101 to 141.2821.

(4) The issuance of bonds and notes under this act is subject to the agency financing reporting act.
History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan.

22, 1981;Am. 2002, Act 357, Imd. Eff. May 23, 2002.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1607a Pledge by corporation; validity; lien; filing or recording instruments not required.
Sec. 7a. A pledge made by the corporation shall be valid and binding from the time the pledge is made.

The money or property pledged and thereafter received by the corporation immediately shall be subject to the
lien of the pledge without a physical delivery, filing, or further act. The lien of such a pledge shall be valid
and binding as against parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract, or otherwise, against the
corporation, irrespective of whether the parties have notice. Neither the resolution, the trust agreement, nor
any other instrument by which a pledge is created need be filed or recorded.

History: Add. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1607b Board of directors serving as planning commission; agenda.
Sec. 7b. If the board of directors of a corporation created under this act serves as the planning commission

under section 2 of Act No. 285 of the Public Acts of 1931, being section 125.32 of the Michigan Compiled
Laws, the board of directors shall include planning commission business in its agenda.

History: Add. 1987, Act 67, Imd. Eff. June 25, 1987.

125.1608 Designation of project area; certification of approval; preparation and approval of
project plan; transfer of employment; contents of project plan; corporation as
instrumentality of political subdivision; notice to vacate; corporation to operate project as
lessor; issuance of obligations; project plans for agricultural and forestry enterprises.
Sec. 8. (1) The corporation shall designate the project area to the governing body of the municipality for

which the corporation is incorporated. The governing body of the municipality for which the corporation is
incorporated shall certify its approval of the designation of a project area by resolution.

(2) Before acquiring property, or an interest in land, or incurring obligations for a specific project, other
than the acquisition of an option, the corporation shall prepare a project plan and secure the recommendation
of the local public agency of the municipality for which the corporation is incorporated, except as provided in
section 9(3), the approval of the governing body of each city, village, or township in which all or a part of the
project is located, and the approval of the county, if the corporation is an economic development corporation

Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 6 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



for the county.
(3) The corporation shall certify to the governing body of the municipality for which the corporation is

incorporated that at the time the project plan is approved by the corporation, the project shall not have the
effect of transferring employment of more than 20 full-time persons from a municipality of this state to the
municipality in which the project is to be located. This restriction shall not prevent the approval of a project if
the governing body of each municipality from which employment is to be transferred consents by resolution
to the transfer.

(4) The project plan shall contain the following, except that agricultural and forestry enterprise projects
need only comply with subsection (9) with respect to project plans:

(a) The location and extent of existing streets and other public facilities within the project district area, and
shall designate the location, character, and extent of the categories of public and private land uses then
existing and proposed for the project area, including residential, recreational, commercial, industrial,
educational, and other uses and shall include a legal description of the project area.

(b) A description of existing improvements in the project area to be demolished, repaired, or altered, a
description of repairs and alterations, and an estimate of the time required for completion.

(c) The location, extent, character, and estimated cost of the improvements including rehabilitation
contemplated for the project area and an estimate of the time required for completion.

(d) A statement of the construction or stages of construction planned, and the estimated time of completion
of each stage.

(e) A description of the parts of the project area to be left as open space and the use contemplated for the
space.

(f) A description of portions of the project area that the corporation desires to sell, donate, exchange, or
lease to or from the municipality, and the proposed terms.

(g) A description of desired zoning changes and changes in streets, street levels, intersections, and utilities.
(h) A statement of the proposed method of financing the project, including, except as provided in section

6a, a statement by a person described in subparagraph (j) indicating the payment to all persons performing
work on the construction project of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates for the same or similar work
in the locality in which the work is to be performed, and a statement of the ability of the corporation to
arrange the financing. The prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates shall be determined under 1965 PA 166,
MCL 408.551 to 408.558. A corporation may conclusively rely upon the statement required under this
subsection as to compliance with the payment of prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates and any contracts,
bonds or notes of any corporation entered into or issued upon reliance on any statement shall not be
subsequently voided by reason of the failure to comply with the requirements of this subsection.

(i) A list of persons who will manage or be associated with the management of the project for a period of
not less than 1 year from the date of approval of the project plan.

(j) Designation of the person or persons, natural or corporate, to whom the project is to be leased, sold, or
conveyed and for whose benefit the project is being undertaken if that information is available to the
corporation.

(k) If there is not an express or implied agreement between the corporation and persons, natural or
corporate, that the project will be leased, sold, or conveyed to those persons, the procedures for bidding for
the leasing, purchasing, or conveying of the project upon its completion.

(l) Estimates of the number of persons residing in the project area, and the number of families and
individuals to be displaced. If occupied residences are designated for acquisition and clearance by the
corporation, a project plan shall include a survey of the families and individuals to be displaced, including
their income and racial composition, a statistical description of the housing supply in the community,
including the number of private and public units in existence or under construction, the condition of those in
existence, the number of owner-occupied and renter-occupied units, the annual rate of turnover of the various
types of housing and the range of rents and sale prices, an estimate of the total demand for housing in the
community, and the estimated capacity of private and public housing available to displaced families and
individuals.

(m) A plan for establishing priority for the relocation of persons displaced by the project in new housing in
the project area.

(n) Provision for the costs of relocating persons displaced by the project and financial assistance and
reimbursement of expenses, including litigation expenses and expenses incident to the transfer of title, in
accordance with the standards and provisions of the uniform relocation assistance and real property
acquisition policies act of 1970, Public Law 91-646, 84 Stat. 1894.

(o) A plan for compliance with 1972 PA 227, MCL 213.321 to 213.332.
(p) Other material as the corporation, local public agency, or governing body considers pertinent.

Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 7 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



(5) The corporation shall be considered an instrumentality of a political subdivision for purposes of 1972
PA 227, MCL 213.321 to 213.332.

(6) A person shall be given not less than 90 days' written notice to vacate unless modified by court order
for good cause.

(7) The corporation shall not operate a project or an enterprise in a project, other than as lessor.
(8) The governing body may utilize the corporation to issue obligations pursuant to section 7 to accomplish

the public purposes of the municipality set forth in section 2, and for that purpose may by resolution direct the
corporation to take appropriate action as set forth in subsections (1) and (2) with respect to a proposed project.

(9) In the case of project plans for agricultural and forestry enterprises, the following information shall be
provided in lieu of the requirements of subsections (2) and (4):

(a) A statement of intention regarding the objectives of the project.
(b) A general description of the kinds of buildings, improvements, storage facilities, restorations,

acquisition of machinery, equipment furnishings, leasehold improvements and incidental related costs to be
financed.

(c) A statement regarding the length of the project and the maximum amount to be financed over the life of
the project.

(d) A statement by the corporation that no zoning change or eminent domain proceedings will be necessary
to implement the project.

(e) A description of the process to be followed in implementing the individual transactions that may
comprise the project.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1978, Act 467, Imd. Eff. Oct.
16, 1978;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981;Am. 2002, Act 357, Imd. Eff. May 23, 2002.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1609 Project plan; findings and recommendations of local public agency;
determinations; publication of general standards for project plans; local public agency
recommendations concerning project plan not required.
Sec. 9. (1) A local public agency shall submit its findings and recommendations concerning a project plan

after the project citizens district council is consulted and advised as provided in section 14, if it determines the
following from the application:

(a) The project plan has been submitted to the project citizens district council for its findings and
recommendations, if a project citizens district council is required.

(b) The project plan meets all the requirements set forth in section 8.
(c) The land included within the project area to be acquired is reasonably necessary to carry out the

purpose of the plan and of this act in an efficient and economically satisfactory manner.
(d) The project plan is in reasonable accord with the master plan of the municipality, if a master plan has

been adopted.
(e) The project plan and size is practicable and in the public interest.
(f) Public services, such as fire and police protection and utilities, are or shall be adequate to service the

project area.
(g) Changes in zoning, streets, street levels, intersections, and utilities are reasonably necessary for the

project and for the municipality.
(2) A local public agency may publish general standards for project plans within the provisions of this

section.
(3) If the implementation of the project plan does not require a zoning change or the taking of private

property pursuant to section 22, the recommendations of the local public agency concerning the project plan
shall not be required.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1978, Act 467, Imd. Eff. Oct.
16, 1978;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of

Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 8 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1610 Project plan; submission of findings and recommendations; determination of
public purpose; considerations.
Sec. 10. (1) The local public agency, if required, shall submit its findings and recommendations for

approval or rejection of the project plan, with any recommendations for modification, to the governing body
of the municipality for which the corporation is incorporated.

(2) The governing body of the municipality for which the corporation is incorporated, after a public
hearing on the project plan with notice of the hearing given in accordance with section 17 shall determine
whether the project plan constitutes a public purpose. If it determines that the project plan constitutes a public
purpose, it shall then approve or reject the plan, or approve it with modification, based on the following
considerations:

(a) The findings and recommendations of the local public agency, if required.
(b) The findings and recommendations of the project citizens district council, if established.
(c) That the plan meets the requirements set forth in section 8.
(d) The persons who will be active in the management of the project for not less than 1 year after the

approval of the project plan have sufficient ability and experience to manage the plan properly.
(e) The proposed method of financing the project is feasible and the corporation has the ability to arrange

the financing.
(f) The project is reasonable and necessary to carry out the purposes of this act.
History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1978, Act 467, Imd. Eff. Oct. 16, 1978;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan.

22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1611 Amendments to project plan; compliance with local ordinances and resolutions.
Sec. 11. The governing body of the municipality for which the corporation is incorporated after a public

hearing with notice of the public hearing given in accordance with section 17 may consider and approve
amendments, by resolution, to the project plan. The corporation shall comply with local ordinances and
resolutions.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1978, Act 467, Imd. Eff. Oct.
16, 1978.

125.1612 Establishment of project district area boundaries; project citizens district council;
establishment; appointment and qualifications of members; council as representative of
project area.
Sec. 12. (1) The governing body of the municipality for which the corporation is incorporated shall, by

resolution, do the following:
(a) Establish the project district area boundaries.
(b) Determine the necessity of establishing a project citizens district council.
(2) A project citizens district council may be established for a project district area promptly after the

designation of the project area is approved by the governing body as provided in section 8(1). The project
citizens district council shall be established by the governing body and shall consist of not less than 9
members. The members of the project citizens district council shall be appointed by the governing body. A
member of a project citizens district council shall be at least 18 years of age.

(3) A project citizens district council shall be representative of the project area giving particular attention
Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 9 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



to those persons who reside, own real property, or maintain an establishment located in the project area.
(4) A majority of the members of a project citizens district council shall be persons residing in the project

area, except if the persons of the age of majority in the project area number less than 20, or if, at the time a
project citizens district council is established, the number of establishments located in the project area exceeds
the number of occupied dwelling units in the project area.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1978, Act 467, Imd. Eff. Oct.
16, 1978.

125.1613 Project citizens district council as advisory body.
Sec. 13. A project citizens district council established pursuant to this act shall act as an advisory body to

the corporation, the local public agency, and the governing body.
History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974.

125.1614 Consultation between representative of corporation and project citizens district
council.
Sec. 14. Periodically the representative of the corporation responsible for preparation of the project plan

within the district area shall consult with and advise the project citizens district council regarding all aspects
of the project plan, including the development of new housing for relocation purposes located either inside or
outside of the development area. The consultation shall begin before any final decisions by the corporation,
the local public agency, and the governing body regarding the project plan other than the designation of the
project area and the project district area. The consultation shall continue throughout the preparation and
implementation of the project plan.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974.

125.1615 Project citizens district council; meetings; notice; right of person to be heard;
record of meeting; information and technical assistance; conditions to adoption of project
plan.
Sec. 15. (1) Meetings of the project citizens district council shall be open to the public. Notice of the time

and place of the meetings shall be given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation not less than 3
days before the dates set for meetings of the project citizens district council. A person present at those
meetings shall have reasonable opportunity to be heard.

(2) A record of the meetings of a project citizens district council, including information and data presented,
shall be maintained by the council.

(3) A project citizens district council may request of and receive from the corporation and the local public
agency information and technical assistance relevant to the preparation of a project plan for its district area.

(4) Failure of a project citizens district council to organize or to consult with and be advised by a
corporation and the local public agency, or failure to advise the local public agency or the governing body, as
provided herein, shall not preclude the adoption of a project plan by a municipality if the municipality
complies with the other provisions of this act.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974.

125.1616 Existing citizens district council as authorized projects citizens district council.
Sec. 16. In a project district area where there already exists a citizens district council established according

to Act No. 344 of the Public Acts of 1945, as amended, being sections 125.71 to 125.84 of the Michigan
Compiled Laws, the governing body may designate it as the project citizens district council authorized by this
act.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974.

125.1617 Public hearing before adoption of resolution approving project plan; notice; record
of public hearing; availability of record to public.
Sec. 17. (1) The governing body of the municipality for which the corporation is incorporated, before

adoption of a resolution approving a project plan authorized by this act, shall hold a public hearing. This act
shall not be construed to require any other municipality, other than the municipality for which the corporation
is incorporated, to hold a public hearing. Notice of the time and place of the hearing shall be given by
publication once in a newspaper of general circulation designated by the municipality, not less than 10 days
before the date set for the hearing. In the case of an agricultural and forestry enterprise project undertaken by
a county corporation, each unit of government within the county shall be notified by mail.

(2) Notice of the hearing shall be posted in at least 10 conspicuous and public places in the proposed

Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 10 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



project district area not less than 10 days before the hearing and shall be mailed not less than 10 days before
the hearing to the last known owner of each parcel of real property in the proposed project district area at the
last known address of the owner as shown by the tax assessment records of the municipality in which the
project area is located. Agricultural and forestry enterprise projects shall not be required to comply with this
subsection.

(3) Notice of the time, date, and place of hearing on a proposed project plan shall contain a description of
the location of the project area in relation to highways, streets, streams, or otherwise. The notice shall contain
a statement that maps, plats, and a description of the proposed project plan, including the method of relocating
families and individuals who will be displaced from the area, are available for public inspection at a place
designated in the notice and that all aspects of the proposed project plan will be open for discussion at the
public hearing and shall contain other information the governing body considers appropriate. At the time set
for hearing, the governing body shall provide an opportunity for interested persons to be heard and shall
receive and consider communications in writing with reference to the hearing. The hearing shall provide the
fullest opportunity for expression of opinion, for argument on the merits, and for introduction of documentary
evidence pertinent to the proposed project plan. The governing body shall make and preserve a record of the
public hearing, including all data presented at the public hearing. The record shall be made available to the
public in compliance with Act No. 442 of the Public Acts of 1976, as amended, being sections 15.231 to
15.246 of the Michigan Compiled Laws.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1978, Act 467, Imd. Eff. Oct.
16, 1978;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1618 Finding and recommendations of project citizens district council; notice.
Sec. 18. Promptly after the public hearing provided in section 10 (2), the project citizens district council

shall notify the governing body, in writing, of its findings and recommendations concerning the proposed
project plan.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976.

125.1619 Revision of boundaries of project district area.
Sec. 19. The boundaries of a project district area may be revised by the inclusion of additional area or by

exclusion of existing area by the governing body by resolution.
History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976.

125.1620 Situations not requiring project citizens district council; dissolution of council.
Sec. 20. A project citizens district council shall not be required and, if formed, shall be dissolved in any of

the following situations:
(a) On petition of not less than 20% of the adult resident population of the project district area by the last

federal decennial or municipal census, a governing body, after public hearing with notice given in accordance
with section 17, and by a 2/3 vote, may adopt a resolution for the project to eliminate the necessity of a
project citizens district council.

(b) When there are less than 18 residents, real property owners, or representatives of establishments
located in the project district area eligible to serve on the project citizens district council.

(c) When the governing body determines that the objectives of the project plan have been substantially
achieved. The determination shall not become effective until 20 days after notice is given, in writing, to the
project citizens district council advising the project citizens district council of the determination. If, within the
20-day period, the project citizens district council notifies the governing body, in writing, of its disapproval of
the determination, the determination shall not become effective unless thereafter approved by a 2/3 majority
of the governing body more than 30 days after receipt of the notice of disapproval. During that period, the
governing body shall consult with the project citizens district council concerning the objections of the project
citizens district council to the determination.

(d) Upon termination of a project by resolution of the governing body.
Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 11 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



(e) When the project plan does not include a zoning change and the implementation of the project plan
does not require the taking of private property pursuant to section 22.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan.
22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1621 Injunction, mandamus, or other appropriate remedy at law; equitable relief.
Sec. 21. A municipality may commence an action for an injunction, or any other appropriate remedy at

law, against a corporation which has not substantially complied with the time limits established in its
approved project plan, reasonable delays caused by unforeseen difficulties excepted, or which has failed to
substantially perform its obligations. The corporation may commence an action for an injunction, mandamus,
or any other appropriate remedy at law, against a municipality for failure to render a final decision on a
project plan within 6 months after the date on which the plan was first submitted to the governing body for
approval. A citizen residing in the project or district area whose interest is substantially affected by the project
plan may bring an action against the corporation or municipality for an appropriate remedy at law or for
equitable relief.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974.

125.1622 Condemnation.
Sec. 22. A municipality may take private property under Act No. 149 of the Public Acts of 1911, as

amended, being sections 213.21 to 213.41 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, for the purpose of transfer to the
corporation, and may transfer the property to the corporation for use in an approved project, on terms and
conditions it deems appropriate, and the taking, transfer, and use shall be considered necessary for public
purposes and for the benefit of the public.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974.

125.1623 Borrowing money and issuing revenue bonds or revenue notes; issuing refunding
bonds; bonds or notes and interest exempt from taxation; exceptions; liability of
municipality on notes or bonds; statement; investment in bonds and notes; deposit of
bonds and notes; report; inspection of records and reports; publication and distribution of
statement of revenues and expenditures.
Sec. 23. (1) For the purpose of defraying all or part of its project costs, refunding or refunding in advance

obligations authorized under this act or obligations authorized under the industrial development revenue bond
act of 1963, 1963 PA 62, MCL 125.1251 to 125.1267, by a municipality incorporating a corporation under
this act, a corporation may borrow money and issue its revenue bonds or revenue notes. Refunding bonds may
be issued by the corporation whether the bonds to be refunded have or have not matured, are or are not
redeemable on the date of issuance of the refunding bonds, or are or are not subject to redemption before
maturity, and may be issued to pay principal, interest, redemption premiums, or any combination thereof of
the obligations to be refunded. The bonds may be issued partly to refund bonds and partly for any other
purpose authorized by this act. The refunding bonds may be issued in a principal amount greater than the
principal amount of the bonds to be refunded as may be necessary to effect the refunding pursuant to the plan
of refunding. The bonds or notes shall be exempt from all taxation except inheritance and transfer taxes and
the interest on the bonds or notes shall be exempt from all taxation in the state of Michigan, notwithstanding
that the interest may be subject to federal income tax.

(2) The municipality shall not be liable on notes or bonds of the corporation and the notes and bonds shall
not be a debt of the municipality. The notes and bonds shall contain on their face a statement to that effect.

(3) The bonds and notes of the corporation may be invested in by all public officers, state agencies and
political subdivisions, insurance companies, banks, savings and loan associations, investment companies, and
fiduciaries and trustees, and may be deposited with and received by all public officers and the agencies and
political subdivisions of this state for any purpose for which the deposit of bonds is authorized.

(4) The corporation shall report to the governing body of the municipality for which the corporation is
Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 12 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



incorporated and the Michigan economic development corporation not less than once per year, which report
shall fully describe the activities of the corporation including a statement of all revenues and expenditures
since the previous report.

(5) The financial records, accountings, audit reports, and other reports of public money under the control of
the corporation shall be public records and open to inspection. The corporation shall publish in a newspaper
of general circulation in the incorporating municipality not more than 120 days after the conclusion of the
corporation's operating year a statement of all of its revenues and expenditures for the year and shall distribute
copies of the report upon request.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan.
22, 1981;Am. 2002, Act 357, Imd. Eff. May 23, 2002.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

For transfer of powers and duties in connection with reports filed by municipalities pursuant to MCL 125.1623(4) from the
department of commerce to the chief executive officer of the Michigan jobs commission, see E.R.O. No. 1996-2, compiled at MCL
445.2001 of the Michigan Compiled Laws.

125.1624 Disposition of net earnings and property upon dissolution of corporation.
Sec. 24. Any net earnings of the corporation beyond that necessary for the retirement of indebtedness or to

implement the public purposes or program of the municipality may not inure to the benefit of a person other
than the municipality and, upon dissolution of the corporation shall belong to the municipality. Upon
dissolution of the corporation title to all property owned by the corporation, subject to existing rights in other
parties, shall vest in the municipality.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976.

125.1625 Exemption of corporation and instruments of conveyance from taxation.
Sec. 25. The corporation shall be exempt from all taxation on its earnings or property. Instruments of

conveyance to or from a corporation shall be exempt from all taxation including taxes imposed by Act No.
134 of the Public Acts of 1966, as amended, being sections 207.501 to 207.513 of the Michigan Compiled
Laws.

History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan.
22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1626 Repealed. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976.
Compiler's note: The repealed section pertained to disposition of property and assets on dissolution of corporation.

125.1627 Powers of public bodies.
Sec. 27. (1) Any municipality and any agency or department thereof, or any other official public body, may

do any of the following:
(a) Anything necessary or convenient to aid in the planning and execution of a project plan.
(b) Lend, grant, transfer, or contribute funds to the corporation in furtherance of its public purposes.
(c) Use any funds within its control, including funds derived from the sale or furnishing of property,

service, or facilities to the corporation, in the purchase of bonds or other obligations of the corporation, and to
exercise any rights connected with such bonds or other obligations of the corporation which it holds.

(d) Enter into agreements up to 50 years with the corporation regarding action it will take pursuant to the

Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 13 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



provisions of this section.
(e) Arrange for economic and business development on a consumer cooperative basis for the citizens to

participate in the development of their own housing as an integral part of the commercial, industrial, and
residential development under this act.

(f) Lend, grant, transfer, or convey funds received from the federal or state government or from any
nongovernmental entity in aid of the purposes described in section 2, and the corporation may accept these
funds.

(2) Any state agency or department may do any of the following:
(a) Lend cooperation and assistance to the municipality and its economic development corporation.
(b) Disburse funds to an economic development corporation in accordance with the terms and condition of

any grant or transfer of funds from the federal government or its agencies or any nongovernmental entity.
History: 1974, Act 338, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1974;Am. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976.

125.1628 Incorporation of economic development corporation; name of corporation.
Sec. 28. Any number of persons, not less than 3, may incorporate, as provided in this act, an economic

development corporation for the purpose of implementing or furthering the public purposes stated in section 2
through the exercise of some or all of the powers created in section 7. The name of the corporation shall be
“the economic development corporation of the (name of municipality)”.

History: Add. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976.

125.1629 Articles of incorporation; approval by resolution; contents.
Sec. 29. The incorporation of the corporation shall be accomplished by the approval of articles of

incorporation by resolution of the municipality. The articles of incorporation shall set forth the name of the
corporation; the purpose for which the corporation is created; the number, terms, and manner of selection of
its officers and their powers and duties; the date upon which the corporation shall become effective; the name
of the newspaper in which the articles of incorporation shall be published; the manner of adopting bylaws;
and other matters expedient to be incorporated in the articles.

History: Add. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1978, Act 467, Imd. Eff. Oct. 16, 1978.

125.1630 Amendment of articles of incorporation.
Sec. 30. The articles of incorporation of the corporation may be amended by resolution of the municipality

which resolution shall be filed with the secretary of state. The effect of an amendment may include the
alteration or changing of the structure, organization, programs, or activities of the corporation including the
power to terminate the existence of the corporation. However, an amendment shall not impair the obligation
of a bond or contract.

History: Add. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1978, Act 467, Imd. Eff. Oct. 16, 1978;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff.
Jan. 22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1631 Articles of incorporation; execution; delivery; filing; publication; statement of right
to question incorporation; certificate; effective date and validity of incorporation.
Sec. 31. (1) The articles of incorporation shall be executed in duplicate and delivered to the county clerk

who shall file 1 copy in his or her office and the other with the recording officer of the corporation when a
recording officer is selected. The municipality's clerk shall cause a copy of the articles of incorporation to be
published once in a newspaper designated in the articles of incorporation and circulating within the
municipality accompanied by a statement that the right exists to question the incorporation in court as
provided in this section.

(2) The county clerk shall file 1 printed copy of the articles of incorporation with the secretary of state and
1 printed copy in his or her office, attached to each of which printed copies shall be his or her certificate
setting forth that the same is a true and complete copy of the original articles of incorporation on file in his or
her office.
Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 14 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



(3) The corporation shall become effective at the time provided in the articles of incorporation.
(4) The validity of the incorporation shall be conclusively presumed unless questioned in a court of

competent jurisdiction within 60 days after the filing of a certified copy with the secretary of state.
History: Add. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1632 Corporation as body corporate; powers.
Sec. 32. The corporation shall be a body corporate with power to sue and be sued in any court of this state.

The corporation shall possess all the powers necessary to carry out the purpose of its incorporation and those
incident thereto. The enumeration of any powers in this act shall not be construed as a limitation upon the
general powers of the corporation.

History: Add. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976.

125.1632a Personal liability of board members; insurance.
Sec. 32a. The members of the board of directors of any corporation organized pursuant to this act or any

person executing any revenue bond or revenue note on behalf of a corporation shall not be liable personally
on the revenue bond or revenue note, or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the
issuance of the revenue bond or revenue note, by reason of acquisition, construction, ownership, or operation
of a project, or by reason of any other action taken or omitted by the board of directors. By resolution the
board of directors of any corporation organized pursuant to this act may provide for the purchase of insurance
indemnifying the members of the board from and against any and all personal liability or accountability
described in this section or any loss or expense related thereto.

History: Add. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1633 Dissolution of corporation; referendum on continued existence of corporation.
Sec. 33. (1) A corporation which has completed the purposes for which it was organized shall be dissolved

by the adoption of a resolution by a 2/3 majority of its directors, which resolution shall be approved by a
majority of the governing body of the municipality and filed with the secretary of state.

(2) At any time during the existence of a corporation, the voters of the municipality for which the
corporation was organized shall have the right of referendum on the continued existence of the corporation. A
referendum on the continued existence of a corporation shall be conducted pursuant to the laws of the
municipality which provide for the referendum of ordinances generally. If a majority of those voting approve
the rescission of the resolution approving the articles of incorporation, the dissolution of the corporation shall
be effective 90 days after certification of a majority of the votes cast. Provided however, that if the
corporation has, prior to the date it is to be dissolved pursuant to this section entered into contracts or issued
bonds or notes the corporation shall remain in existence after the date it would otherwise be dissolved but
only for purpose of carrying out its obligations under such contracts, bonds or notes. A certification of the
referendum vote shall be filed with the secretary of state. Another corporation may not be incorporated for a
municipality within 5 years after the effective date of a corporation's dissolution by referendum under this
section.

History: Add. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976;Am. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of

Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 15 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1634 Corporations organized and incorporated pursuant to MCL 450.62 to 450.192;
validation, force, and effect of prior actions.
Sec. 34. A corporation organized and incorporated pursuant to section 5 and Act No. 327 of the Public

Acts of 1931, as amended, being sections 450.62 to 450.192 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, before the
effective date of this section, is subject to this act, as amended, without formal reorganization and the
corporation shall be deemed to exist solely under this act, as amended. Actions taken under this act by a
person, municipality, or corporation in good faith before the effective date of this section and which would
have been valid under this act before sections 28 to 36 were added are hereby validated and shall have the
same force and effect as if those actions were taken under this act, as amended by the act which added this
section.

History: Add. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976.

125.1634a Corporation deemed validly incorporated; validity of action taken by corporation
under act; validity and legality of evidences of indebtedness and related instruments.
Sec. 34a. (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of this act, a corporation for which a copy of articles of

incorporation is on file with the secretary of state on or before the effective date of this section shall be
deemed validly incorporated under this act from the date on which the articles of incorporation were filed,
whether or not the articles of incorporation were adopted, executed, printed, certified, or filed in accordance
with this act as in effect at the time of filing.

(2) Any action taken by the corporation under this act, which at the time of the taking of the action the
corporation would have been empowered to take, is deemed valid from the date the action was taken.

(3) Any bond, note, or other evidence of indebtedness of any corporation and any instrument relating
thereto authorized, issued, or delivered prior to the effective date of this section, is valid and legal for all
purposes.

History: Add. 1980, Act 501, Imd. Eff. Jan. 22, 1981.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 501 of 1980 provides: “This amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a population of
greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation of that city. In
addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect shall be exempt
from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

Act 86 of 1984 amended enacting section 2 of Act No. 501 of 1980 to read as follows: “Section 2. Except for the issuance of bonds
and entry into loan agreements by a corporation to refund bonds issued before January 21, 1981, under Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of
1963, being sections 125.1251 to 125.1267 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, this amendatory act shall not take effect in a city with a
population of greater than 750,000 persons until a subsidiary corporation described under section 6a has been created by the corporation
of that city. In addition, any project for which a corporation has designated the project area at the time this amendatory act takes effect
shall be exempt from the requirement of payment of the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates described in section 8(4)(h).”

125.1635 Liberal construction.
Sec. 35. This act, being necessary for and to secure the performance of essential public purposes and

functions for the state and its municipalities shall be liberally construed to effect the purposes of this act.
History: Add. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976.

125.1636 Authority cumulative.
Sec. 36. The authority given by this act shall be in addition to and not in derogation of any power existing

in any of the municipalities under any statutory or charter provisions.
History: Add. 1976, Act 175, Imd. Eff. June 29, 1976.

Rendered Wednesday, December 4, 2013 Page 16 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 180 of 2013

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION 
 

 These Articles of Incorporation are signed by the incorporators for the purpose of 

forming an Economic Development Corporation, pursuant to the provisions of 1974 P.A. 

138, as amended, as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

 The name of the Corporation is “THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

CORPORATION OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN”. 

 

ARTICLE II 

 The purpose for which the Corporation is organized are to alleviate and prevent 

conditions of unemployment; to assist and retain local industrial and commercial 

enterprises in order to strengthen and revitalize the economy of the Charter Township of 

Meridian (hereinafter referred to as “Township”) and the State of Michigan; to assist and 

encourage industrial and commercial enterprises to locate, purchase, construct, 

reconstruct, modernize, improve, maintain, repair, furnish, equip and expand in the 

Township; to encourage the location and expansion of industrial and commercial 

enterprises in the Township in order to more conveniently provide needed services and 

facilities to the Township and to residents of the Township; to promote economic activity 

in the forestry and agricultural sectors by providing incentives to combat inflation; to 

reduce energy consumption; to retain the family farm unit; to reduce the rate at which 

urban sprawl has been devouring productive farm lands; to provide farmers and 

foresters with a more favorable export market; to reduce costs of production; to 

encourage the development of facilities designed to produce energy from renewable 



resources; and to accomplish such other purposes as may be provided from time to 

time in 1974 P.A. 338, as amended.  In  furtherance of these purposes, the Corporation 

shall have all of the powers which are now or hereafter may be conferred by law on 

corporations organized under 1974 P.A. 338, and especially Section 7 thereof, including 

the following: 

(a) To construct, acquire by gift or purchase, reconstruct,
improve, maintain, or repair projects and acquire the
necessary land, or an interest in land or portions of the
land for “projects” as defined in 1978 P.A. 338, as
amended from time to time.

(b) To acquire by gift or purchase the necessary
machinery, furnishings, and equipment for a project.

(c) To make secured or unsecured loans, participate in the
making of secured or unsecured loans, undertake
commitments to make secure or unsecured loans and
mortgages, sell loans and mortgages at public or
private sale, rewrite loans and mortgages, discharge
loans and mortgages, foreclose on a mortgage, or
commence an action to protect or enforce a right
conferred upon it by a law, or enforce a right conferred
upon it by a law, mortgage, loan, contract, or other
agreement.

(d) To borrow money and issue its revenue bonds or
revenue notes to finance or refinance part or all of the
project costs and the costs necessary or incidental to
the borrowing of money and issuing of bonds or notes
for such purpose, and secure those bonds and notes by
mortgage, assignment, or pledge of any of its money,
revenue, income and properties.  Bonds and notes may
be issued to acquire and install projects, necessary
lands, or an interest in the land or portion thereof, for
the site therefor, and the necessary machinery,
furnishings and equipment for a project notwithstanding
that the corporation does not own or propose to own
such projects, lands or machinery, furnishings and
equipment.



(e) To enter into leases, lease purchase agreements,
installment sales contracts or loan agreements with any
person, firm, or corporation for the use or sale of the
projects.

(f) To mortgage or create security interests in the project,
a part of the project, a lease or loan, or the rents,
revenues, or sums to be paid during the term of a lease
or loan, in favor of holders of bonds or notes issued by
the corporation.

(g) To sell and convey projects or any part thereof for a
price and at a time as the Corporation determines.

(h) To lend, grant, transfer, or convey funds, described in
Section 27 of 1974 P.A. 338, as permitted by law, but
subject to applicable restrictions affecting the use of
those funds.

(i) To aid, assist and participate in clearing, rebuilding and
rehabilitating blighted, deteriorated areas or structures.

(j) To encourage, assist and participate in the preparations
of plans, services, studies and recommendations/

(k) To hold, improve by construction or otherwise, develop,
clear, prepare and dispose of real property.

(l) To enter into contracts with public authorities,
individuals, corporations and other organizations in
connection herewith.

(m) To carry on any activity for the purposes above stated,
either directly or as agent, for or with public authorities,
individuals, corporations or other organizations, or in
whole or in part through or by means of public
authorities, individuals, corporation or other
organizations.

(n) To exercise such other powers which now or hereafter
may be conferred by law upon a corporation organized
for the above purposes, subject to such limitations and
conditions as are or may be prescribed by law.



ARTICLE III 

The Corporation is organized upon a non-stock basis.  The amount of assets 

which said Corporation possesses is: 

Real Property: None 

Personal Property: None 

The Corporation will be financed by contributions, gifts, donations, grants and 

devises, either solicited or not solicited, from public authorities, individuals, corporations, 

partnerships, or other organizations; by earnings from its activities; by borrowings and 

issuances of revenue bonds; and by other methods which may, from time to time, be 

permitted corporations organized under 1974 P.A. 338, as amended. 

ARTICLE IV 

The location and post office address of the first registered office is 5151 Marsh 

Road, Okemos, Michigan, 48864. 

The name of the first resident agent at the registered office of Virginia L. White. 

ARTICLE V 

The names and address of the incorporators are as follows: 

Name  Address 

Scott T. Schultz 6180 N. Hagadorn Road, #12 
East Lansing, Michigan 48823 

Thomas E. Klunzinger 1856 Hamilton Road, C-15 
Okemos, Michigan  48864 

Lillian B. Reynolds 2646 Roseland 
East Lansing, Michigan  48823 



ARTICLE VI 

A. Board of Directors of the Corporation shall consist of not less than nine

persons, not more than three of whom shall be an officer or employee of the Township. 

The directors shall be appointed by the Township Supervisor, with the advice and 

consent of the Township Board, for terms of six years, except that, of the directors first 

appointed, four shall be appointed for six (6) years, one for five (5) years, one for four 

(4) years, one for three (3) years, one for two (2) years, one for one (1) year.  There

shall be promptly appointed, in the same manner, to the Corporation’s Board of 

Directors two additional directors representative of neighborhood residents or business 

interests likely to be affected by each project proposed by the Corporation, whose term 

of office shall be consistent with the provisions of Section 4(2) of 1978 P.A. 388. 

B. (1)  The Board of Directors shall designate one of its members as

Chairman, one of its members as Vice-Chairman, one of its members as Secretary, one 

its members of Deputy Secretary, and a Treasurer who need not be a member of the 

Board of Directors, each to be designated for such office for a period of two (2) years, or 

until their successors are designated.  Such officers may succeed themselves in office. 

(2) The Chairman shall preside at meetings of the Board of Directors and

may sign and execute all authorized bonds, contracts, checks and other obligations and 

execute interest coupons with his manual or facsimile signature in the name of the 

Corporation as and when authorized by the Board of Directors.  He shall do and perform 

such other duties as may be fixed by the bylaws and from time to time assigned to him 

by the Board of Directors. 



(3)  The Vice-Chairman shall, in the absence of the Chairman or in the 

event of his inability or refusal to act, perform the duties of the Chairman and, when so 

acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the 

Chairman.  The Vice-Chairman shall perform such other duties as may be assigned to 

him by the Chairman or by the Board of Directors. 

(4)  The Secretary shall keep the minutes of all meetings of the Board of 

Directors, and of all committees thereof, in books provided for that purpose.  He shall 

attend to the giving, serving and receiving of all notices of process of or against the 

Corporation.  He may sign with the Chairman in the name of the Corporation all bonds, 

contracts and other obligations and execute interest coupons with his manual or 

facsimile signature in the name of the Corporation as and when so authorized by the 

Board of Directors, and when so ordered, he shall affix the seal of the Corporation 

thereto.  He shall have charge of all books and records which shall at all reasonable 

times be open to inspection and examination by the Board of Directors or any member 

thereof, and by the Township Board, and, in general, perform all the duties incident to 

his office.  The Secretary shall preside at meeting of the Board of Directors in the 

absence of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman. 

(5)  The Deputy Secretary shall, in the absence of the Secretary or in the 

event of his inability or refusal to act, perform the duties of Secretary and, when so 

acting, shall have all the powers and be subject to all the restrictions upon the 

Secretary.  The Deputy Secretary shall perform such other duties as may be assigned 

to him by the Secretary or by the Board of Directors. 



(6)  The Treasurer shall have custody of all the funds and securities of the 

Corporation which may come into his hands or possession.  When necessary or proper, 

he shall endorse on behalf of the Corporation for collection, checks, notes and other 

obligations, and shall deposit them to the credit of the Corporation in a designated bank 

or depository.  He shall sign all receipts and vouchers for payment made to the 

Corporation.  He shall jointly with such other officer as may be designated by the Board 

of Directors sign all checks, promissory notes and other obligations of the Corporation 

when so ordered by the Board of Directors.  He shall render a statement of his cash 

accounts when required by the Board of Directors.  He shall enter regularly in the books 

of the Corporation to be kept by him for the purpose full and accurate accounts of all 

monies received and paid by him on account of the Corporation, and shall, at all 

reasonable times, exhibit his books and accounts to the Board of Directors or any 

member thereof when so required.  He shall perform all acts incidental to the position of 

Treasurer fixed by the bylaws and as assigned to him from time to time by the Board of 

Directors.  He shall be bonded for the faithful discharge of his duties as Treasurer, the 

bond to be of such character, form and in such amount as the Board of Directors may 

require. 

(7)  In the absence of any officer of the Corporation or for any other 

reason that the Board of Directors may deem sufficient, a majority of the Board of 

Directors then in office may delegate, from time to time and for such time as they may 

deem appropriate, the powers and duties of any officer elected or appointed, to any 

other officer or to any directors. 



C. The members of the Board of Directors or any person executing any

revenue note on behalf of a Corporation shall not be personally liable on the revenue 

bond or revenue note, or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason 

of the issuance of the revenue bond or revenue note, by reason of acquisition, 

construction, ownership, or operation of a project, or by reason of any other action taken 

or omitted by the Board of Directors.  By resolution, the Board of Directors may provide 

for the purchase of insurance indemnifying the members of the Board of Directors from 

and against any and all personal liability or accountability described in this section or 

any loss or expense related thereto. 

D. Directors shall serve without salary, but may be reimbursed their actual

expenses incurred in the performance of their official duties, and may receive a per 

diem of not more than $50.00, if authorized by resolution of the Township Board.  The 

Treasurer, if not a director, may receive a salary as approved by resolution of the 

Township Board. 

ARTICLE VII 

A. Pursuant to 1974 P.A. 338, as amended, these Articles of Incorporation

shall be published in the Towne Courier, 423 Albert Street, East Lansing, Michigan, 

48823, after approval by resolution of the Township Board.  The Corporation shall 

become effective on the date of said publication.  These Articles of Incorporation may 

be amended by resolution of the Township Board, which resolution shall be filed with 

the Secretary of State. 

B. The term of corporation existence is perpetual.



C. Bylaws of the Corporation shall be adopted at the first meeting of the 

Board of Directors.  The adoption of the bylaws and revisions thereof shall require a 

majority vote of those directors present and voting, but in no instance shall bylaws be 

adopted or revised if less than a majority of the Board of Directors is present. 

D. The Board of Directors shall adopt a Corporation Seal. 

E. All meetings of the Board of Directors shall be public and notice of such 

meetings will be posted and such meetings will be conducted in compliance with 1976 

P.A. 267. 

F. The Corporation shall at all times be deemed to be an agency or political 

subdivision of the Township.  The books and records of the Corporation and the Board 

of Directors, officers and agents thereof shall be public and open to inspection and audit 

by the Township at all reasonable times.  The Corporation shall submit an annual report 

of its activities to the Township Board and to the office of economic development of the 

Michigan Department of Commerce, and shall annually publish in a newspaper of 

general circulation a report of its revenue and expenditures for the operating year. 

G. No part of the earnings of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of any 

member, director, officer, or trustee of the Corporation, or any private individual, person, 

firm or corporation (except that reasonable compensation may be paid for services 

rendered to or for the Corporation affecting one or more of its purposes), and no 

member, officer or director of the corporation, or any private individual, person, firm or 

corporation shall be entitled to share in the distribution of any of the corporate assets 

upon dissolution of the corporation.  No substantial part of the activities of the 

corporation shall be carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence 



legislation, and the corporation shall not participate in or intervene in (including the 

publication or distribution of statements) any political campaign or any candidate for 

public office. 

Upon dissolution of the corporation or winding up of its affairs, all the property 

and assets of the corporation remaining after the satisfaction of all obligations of the 

corporation shall be distributed to the Charter Township of Meridian. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, the incorporators of the above-
named corporation, hereby sign these Articles of Incorporation this 2nd day of October, 
1981. 

____________________________________ 
Scott T. Schultz 

____________________________________ 
Thomas E. Klunzinger 

____________________________________ 
Lillian B. Reynolds 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
)  ss 

COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 

On this 2nd  day of October, 1981, before me, a notary public within and for the 
county and state aforesaid, personally appeared Scott T. Schultz, Thomas E. 
Klunzinger, and Lillian B. Reynolds, to me known to be the persons described in and 
who executed the foregoing instrument, and acknowledged that they executed the same 
as their free and voluntary act and deed. 

__________________________________  
Ellen E. Strickland, Notary Public 
Ingham County Michigan 
My Commission expires:  January 31, 1983 

Drafted by: 



William K. Fahey 
FOSTER, SWIFT, COLLINS, & COEY, P.C. 
313 South Washington Avenue 
Lansing, Michigan   48933 
(517) 372-8050



To: Meridian Economic Development Corporation 

From: Amber Clark Director Neighborhoods & Economic Development 

Date: July 6, 2023 

Re: Training for Meridian EDC Members  

In better support of the Meridian EDC members, the attached documents are 
provided for your review. In order to better identify, conclude, and engage the 
Township Board, Planning Commission and general public, it is the 
recommendation of staff that Meridian EDC members become familiar with the 
determined best practices of elevating communities. These suggestions and 
practices do not have to be taken in totality, but provide an overview of the 
general best practices to meet development goals. The goals of the Meridian 
EDC should complement the development vision of the Master Plan and address 
the needs of the community. To ensure members are meeting the best practice 
which also represents our certification as a Redevelopment Ready Community 
please complete the attached form after review of the documents and submit to 
staff via clark@meridian.mi.us.  

I_______________________________, member of the Meridian Economic 
Development Corporation on _______, day of ________, 2023, have reviewed 
the submitted training documents as suggested. My two comments of the 
documents are: 

1) 

2)

mailto:clark@meridian.mi.us


BUILDING STRONG 
COMMUNITIES



“We were a downtown 

development authority 

that became a Main 

Street Downtown 

Development Authority, 

and we have benefited 

from the resources, the 

technical assistance, the 

network, the training, 

everything you get by 

being a part of this 

phenomenal group of 

people that all have 

the same goal: to 

help make your town 

the best it can be. It’s 

phenomenal what you 

can do with ideas and 

networking, and we’re 

proof of that.”

—Lisa Croteau,  
Executive Director,  

Niles Main Street/DDA

For more information, email michiganmainstreet@michigan.org
or visit www.miplace.org.

T
o be vibrant and competitive, Michigan

communities must be ready for development. 

This involves planning for new investment, 

identifying assets and opportunities, and focusing 

limited resources. The MEDC supports the growth of 

vibrant, diverse, and resilient communities by providing 

economic development services and programs to 

attract and retain talent in Michigan communities.

The MICHIGAN MAIN STREET PROGRAM
exists to help communities interested in revitalizing and 

preserving their traditional commercial district develop 

main street districts that attract both residents and 

businesses, promote commercial investment, and spur 

economic growth.

Michigan Main Street (MMS) staff provides technical assistance 
and services to communities at three levels: Engaged, Select 
and Master. Each level is designed to assist the community in 
tackling increasingly sophisticated district revitalization efforts by 
utilizing the Main Street Approachtm—a common-sense approach 
to tackling the complex issues of revitalization by capitalizing 
on a district’s history and identifying the unique assets of the 
community itself.

ENGAGED LEVEL
A community will officially be recognized as an Engaged Level  
Main Street Community once they complete the following activities: 

• Participate in the Main Street training series
• Develop a communications plan following the Main Street

Basics training
• Develop a fund development plan following the Main Street

In Practice training

SELECT LEVEL
The Select Level provides communities with specialized training within their own community. 
The intent of the Select Level is to assist communities in implementing the Main Street Four-
Point Approachtm. The Main Street program will have an active board of directors, providing 
oversight and direction, volunteer-driven committees completing projects, and a Main Street 
director assisting with day-to-day needs. In addition, at the Select Level, communities receive 
over $100,000 worth of specialized trainings designed to help revitalize their downtown or 
traditional neighborhood commercial district. 

MASTER LEVEL
The Master Level is the most prestigious level of the MMS program. The intent is to continue 
assisting communities that have successfully integrated a full Main Street program into their 
community. This is achieved by continuing to offer select level trainings and networking 
opportunities through MMS, as well as the opportunity to act as mentors for other MMS 
communities. In addition, Master Level communities continue to receive specialized technical 
assistance based on the needs of the district.

VIBRANCY GRANT
Select and Master Level Main Street Communities are eligible to apply for the Main Street 
Vibrancy Grant Program. The Vibrancy Grant offers a unique opportunity to supplement the 
technical assistance, education and training provided by Michigan Main Street with financial 
support for innovative placemaking to help transform Michigan Main Street districts into 
vibrant places. 

MICHIGAN MAIN STREET TRAINING SERIES
The first step for communities interested in participating in MMS is completing the 
Main Street training series, which provides:

• A basic understanding of the Main Street Approachtm

• An overview of the strategies that build awareness and participation in future Main
Street efforts

Housed within the Michigan  
Economic Development 
Corporation, the program  
is affiliated with the National  
Main Street Center.



A community that achieves an RRC 
designation has a clear vision for the 
future and welcomes private sector 
investment through a proactive and 
predictable customer-centric approach 
to development. An RRC designation 
signals to residents, business owners, 

developers and investors that a community has removed development 
barriers by incorporating deliberate, fair and consistent processes.
A certified RRC has a clear vision for the future, established through collaborative community 
planning, and welcomes private sector investment through a proactive and predictable customer 
service approach to development. RRC certification signals to residents, business owners, 
developers and investors that a community has removed development barriers by incorporating 
deliberate, fair and consistent processes. 

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE PROVIDED
Communities engaged in RRC are supported with hands-on technical assistance throughout the 
certification process. They build productive relationships with their community planner and have 
access to a wide range of resources ranging from the RRC baseline report to the RRC library, 
webinars, workshops, planning documents, ordinance updates, and more. The community 
planner connects the community not only with resources to achieve certification, but also works 
to challenge norms and capture community development momentum at critical junctures which  
can lead to long-term prosperity.

RRC BEST PRACTICES
Developed by public and private sector experts, the RRC Best Practices are the standard for 
evaluation. Communities are able to choose from two available paths for a customized experience. 
Each best practice addresses key elements of community and economic development. To be 
awarded certification, a community must demonstrate that all best practice components have been 
met. The RRC Best Practice training series is aimed at building the capacity of local governments 
in communities eager to work toward and adopt RRC Best Practices. 

CERTIFIED COMMUNITIES
When a community becomes certified, it signals that it has effective development practices. 
These include clear development procedures, a community-supported vision, an open and 
predictable review process, and compelling sites for developers to locate their latest projects. 
Certified RRCs gain access to the expertise of the Redevelopment Services Team, focused on  
a proactive approach to site redevelopment.

ESSENTIALS COMMUNITIES
Communities who have achieved the Essentials designation have all the key documents and 
practices in place to provide a predictable development experience and meet local planning 
and zoning responsibilities under Michigan law. Essentials communities gain access to technical 
assistance match funding opportunities.

For more information, email RRC@michigan.org or visit www.miplace.org.

For more information, email Dan Leonard, Redevelopment Services Director
(regions 1–4) at leonardd6@michigan.org and Nate Scramlin, Redevelopment Services 

Director (regions 5–10) at scramlinn@michigan.org or visit www.miplace.org/sites.

If your community invites public input,  
plans for future investment and offers superior 

customer service, then Redevelopment  
Ready Communities® is for you!

“As a community 
looking to rebrand 
itself and capitalize on 
inherent opportunities, 
the RRC process 
has been critical to 
our success. Beyond 
accomplishing 
certification, it’s 
the process to 
get certified that 
makes you better, 
more competitive. 
Certification is the 
icing on the cake and 
creates invaluable 
credibility with 
developers, but also 
with other agencies 
and partners that are 
needed for successful 
projects.” 

—Todd Dickerson,  
Economic Improvement Director, 

Oscoda Charter Township 

“The Redevelopment 

Services Team at MEDC 

has proved integral in 

the activation of our 

priority redevelopment 

sites in the city of 

Kalamazoo. Their 

expertise and guidance 

allowed us to attract a 

well-seasoned developer 

to a tired opportunity in 

our downtown through 

the development 

and promotion of a 

top-notch site RFQ. 

They have an obvious 

passion for quality 

redevelopment solutions 

and have helped 

position us for further 

success.”
— Antonio Mitchell,  

Director, Community Planning  
& Economic Development,  

City of Kalamazoo

REDEVELOPMENT 
SERVICES

MEDC’s Redevelopment Services Team (RSTeam) is the next frontier 
of the Redevelopment Ready Communities® (RRC) program. The 
RSTeam proactively packages priority Redevelopment Ready Sites 
(RRSites) throughout RRC certified communities across the state of 
Michigan. 

Michigan’s communities of all sizes are rich with sites ripe for  
redevelopment. These properties may be in the form of vacant 
land, a superfluous surface parking lot, a former industrial site, 
a historic building that has fallen on hard times, or even vacant 
storefronts or upper stories along a traditional commercial street. 
Reimagining these properties for more productive uses will help 
community leaders meet multiple goals, from increased tax revenue 
to a better quality of life for existing residents. 

Upon RRC certification, communities across the state engage with 
the RSTeam to receive personal and direct one-on-one professional 
support to assist in the redevelopment of their priority sites. The 
RSTeam provides technical assistance tailored to each community, 
including the following services: baseline site consultation, priority 
site promotion, predevelopment assistance, design/build scenarios, 
and developer matchmaking.



MEDC consults with communities, developers and non-profits 
to coordinate all necessary state and local services in order to 

complete projects and foster economic growth. 

For more information about community eligibility and program guidelines, visit www.miplace.org.

MEDC administers the Michigan Strategic Fund programs (below) to facilitate the 
reinvigoration of communities across Michigan. Communities that meet the eligibility 

requirements may apply for the following financing and incentives: 

Brownfield Redevelopment 
Act (PA 381)   
Any city, village, township, or county 
may create a Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority. Brownfield incentives promote 
investment in eligible properties such 
as contaminated, blighted, functionally 
obsolete, or historic properties. Tax 
increment financing (TIF) allows for 
reimbursement of costs incurred from 
eligible activities on brownfield properties 
from the incremental revenue generated 
by new investment on the property.

Build MI Community 
Is a tool that provides access to real 
estate development gap financing for 
small scale, incremental redevelopment 
projects. The Build MI Community 
initiative has been established to 
reactivate underutilized or vacant space 
into vibrant areas by promoting capital 
investment into redevelopment projects 
being taken on by developers and 
property owners with limited real estate 
development experience and familiarizing 
them with the development process to 
position them to potentially undertake 
more complex projects in the future.

Community Development 
Block Grant (CDBG) 
The U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development allocates CDBG 
funding to the state of Michigan through 
the MSF with assistance from the MEDC 
for further distribution to eligible units 
of general local government (UGLGs) 

to carry out MSF-approved activities. 
CDBG program funds are used to 
provide grants and loans to UGLGs, 
usually with populations under 50,000, 
in support of economic or community 
development projects. Project proposals 
are considered and evaluated based 
upon the MSF’s approved funding 
guide. Eligible project types may include 
place-based infrastructure, historic 
preservation and rental rehabilitation.

Community Revitalization  
Program (CRP)  
Chapter 8C of Act 270 of 1984 
CRP is designed to support real estate 
redevelopment, infill and historic 
preservation projects in downtowns and 
high-impact commercial corridors. CRP 
awards fill financial gaps with loans, 
grants or other economic assistance 
in projects that promote community 
revitalization by accelerating private 
investment, fostering redevelopment 
of functionally obsolete or historic 
properties, and reducing blight. 

Public Spaces Community Places 
The first national program of its kind 
wherein local residents can contribute 
to transformational projects in their 
communities while being backed 
by the state, dollar-for-dollar, up to 
$50,000. Thriving places help define 
a community’s economic vitality. From 
bike trails to public sculpture projects, 
these projects promote a strong quality 
of life, help attract and retain talent, 
and grow stronger local economies. 

Universally designed public spaces focus 
on the design and composition of an 
environment so that it can be accessed, 
understood, and used to the greatest 
extent possible by all people regardless 
of their age, size, ability or disability. 
Projects that are universally designed 
may be eligible for additional support. 
This reward initiative provides matching 
grants for crowdfunded public space 
projects through Patronicity, an online 
crowdfunding platform.

State Historic Preservation  
Tax Credits (PA 343 of 2020) 
Provide a credit of up to 25 percent of 
rehabilitation costs for both income-
producing and owner-occupied historic 
properties. A limited amount of credits 
are available each calendar year. 

Transformational Brownfield Plan 
(TBP) (Act 46–50 of 2017) 
TBP is defined as a brownfield plan 
that, among other requirements, will 
have a transformational impact on 
local economic development and 
community revitalization and meet 
certain investment thresholds. TBP 
projects may request sales and use 
tax exemption, property tax increment 
capture, construction period tax capture, 
withholding tax capture, and income 
tax capture revenues as determined 
necessary to fill a demonstrated 
financing gap.

Business Improvement District  
(BID)/Principal Shopping District 
(PSD) (PA 120) 
Cities, villages, and urban townships 
may create a BID or PSD to allow a 
municipality to collect revenues, levy 
special assessments, and issue bonds 
in order to address the maintenance, 
security, and operation of that district. 

Business Improvement Zone 
(BIZ) (PA 120) 
BIZ can be created by private property 
owners of those parcels in a zone 
plan within a city or village to levy 
assessments and finance activities and 
projects outlined within a zone plan.

Commercial Redevelopment 
Act (PA 255) 
PA 255 encourages the replacement, 
restoration, and new construction of 
commercial property in a city or village. 
Property taxes generated from new 
investment are abated for a period up to 
12 years. Land and personal property are 
not eligible.

Commercial Rehabilitation 
Act (PA 210) 
PA 210 encourages rehabilitation of 
commercial property in a city, village,  
or township. Property taxes generated 
from new investment are abated for a 
period up to 10 years. 

Conditional Land Use 
Transfer (PA 425) 
PA 425 allows one municipality the 
option of conditionally transferring 
land to another. This public act was 

established to ease the legally difficult 
process of annexation, and to encourage 
cooperation. Cities, villages, and 
townships may enter into land transfer 
agreements.

Corridor Improvement Authority 
(CIA) (PA 57, Part 6)
CIA is designed to assist cities, villages, 
and townships by allowing the use of tax 
increment financing or other funding tools 
to implement eligible improvements in 
designated commercial corridors.

Downtown Development Authority 
(DDA) (PA 57, Part 2)
DDA is designed to be a catalyst in 
a community’s downtown district. It 
provides a variety of funding options 
including a tax increment financing 
mechanism, which can be used to fund 
public improvements and to levy a 
limited millage to address administrative 
expenses.

Local Development Financing 
Authority (LDFA) (PA 57, Part 4)
LDFA allows a city, village, or urban 
township to use tax increment 
financing to fund public infrastructure 
improvements for eligible properties. 
LDFAs can promote economic growth 
and job creation through supporting 
companies in manufacturing, agricultural 
processing, and high technology 
operations.

Neighborhood Enterprise 
Zone (NEZ) (PA 147)
PA 147 provides a tax incentive to 
develop or rehabilitate residential 

housing units in qualified local units of 
government (i.e., Core Communities).

Neighborhood Improvement 
Authority (NIA) (PA 57, Part 8) 
NIA may use its funds, including tax 
increment financing, to fund residential 
and economic growth in residential 
neighborhoods. An authority may 
also issue bonds to finance these 
improvements.

Obsolete Property Rehabilitation 
Act (OPRA) (PA 146)
Tax incentives are available to encourage 
redevelopment of contaminated, 
blighted, and functionally obsolete 
buildings in eligible core communities. 
OPRA helps spur private development 
in urban areas and centers of commerce, 
by temporarily freezing local taxes up to 
12 years. 

Redevelopment Liquor 
Licenses (PA 501) 
Through PA 501, the Liquor Control 
Commission may issue new public 
on-premises liquor licenses to local 
governments in addition to quota 
licenses allowed in cities under PA 58.

Water Resource Improvement  
Tax Increment Finance Authority 
Act (PA 57, Part 7) 
Through PA 94, a city, village, or township 
can establish a Water Improvement Tax 
Increment Finance Authority to prevent 
deterioration in water resources, and to 
promote water resource improvement or 
access to inland lakes, or both.

OTHER RESOURCES
Business Assistance and Resources 
MEDC and its network of local and 
regional partners provide business 
assistance and business resources 
throughout Michigan. To learn more, visit 
www.michiganbusiness.org/small-business.

Pure Michigan Talent Connect 
Employers and job seekers alike can 
search an extensive database of job 
openings, post and view résumés and 

jobs, view upcoming job fairs, and tap 
into a variety of specialty career services 
at www.mitalent.org. 

SBA 504 Loans 
These loans provide businesses with 
long-term fixed-rate financing for the 
acquisition or construction of fixed 
assets. Visit www.sba.gov/mi for more 
information.

Small Business  
Development Center (SBDC)
Michigan’s SBDC has 10 regional  
offices that provide counseling, training, 
and many other valuable resources  
to support small businesses. Visit  
www.sbdcmichigan.org for more 
information.

For more information about community eligibility and program guidelines, visit www.miplace.org.

LOCAL COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT TOOLS



 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community  
 

 

To:  Economic Development Corporation Board Members  

From:  Amber Clark, Neighborhoods and Economic Development Director  

Date:                   August 3, 2023  

Re:                      Community Engagement – Branded Bags, Farmer’s Market Sponsorship  
 

Previously the Meridian Economic Development body sought to increase community engagement 
through community branding campaigns and events. One discussion idea included branded reusable 
bags to be granted/sold at the Farmer’s Market. The following is a proposal brought to the EDC by 
the Chair of the commission. The EDC will purchase a set number of branded reusable shopping bags 
to be presented at the Farmer’s Market. A budget for community promotion is set currently at $2000, 
the plan would be to keep costs for at or below that amount.  

Working with Farmer’s Market the EDC would launch the engagement at a particular times each 
year, starting 2023 around the shop local initiative (Nov 1 – Dec 31). The Farmer’s Market moves to 
an indoor market once a month through the winter inside of Meridian Mall. Vendors will be supplied 
with a set of free branded bags to begin. Later the EDC would charge for costs of the bags only, and 
vendors could sell the bags at cost (the EDC may determine they find it suitable for a Farmer’s Market 
Vendor to sell the bags for a profit, TBD). Working with the Communications department, Farmer’s 
Market, and Parks Department, we would incentivize patrons to purchase the bags in support of the 
shop local concept.  

 

To be determined: 

Cost to purchase and create each bag 

Logo to be incorporated (potential logo included in packet, however it does not identify the EDC) 

Maximum amount EDC will allow vendors to charge for the bags 

Agreement and consent of Farmer’s Market and Meridian Mall  

 

 

 

 

 



 



To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

Meridian Economic Development Corporation 

Amber Clark Director Neighborhoods & Economic Development 

August 3, 2023 

Proposed Budget 2024 Meridian EDC 

For discussion of the proposed 2024 Budget. The inclusion of popular 
community events sponsorships and facade improvement grants. The Meridian 
EDC also has the capacity to pursue State and Federal grants of the committee 
to support business development. A strong case to gain support from these 
programs would be the creation of development grant/loan program, workforce 
development support program or other programs that meet the needs of the 
small business community.

If you have any questions, I can be reached at 517-853-4568 or by email at 
clark@meridian.mi.us. 

Motion: Move to approve the 2024 budget of the Meridian Economic 
Development Corporation. 



2023-2024 Proposed Budget

REVENUE

Issuers fees (Burcham Retirement Village/ Nov. 2023) $10,000.00

Juneteenth for Meridian Holdings 
Fundraised by Juneteenth 
committee, held by EDC $7,850.00

Interest income $100.00
EDC General Fund Balance $48,487.81

Total Revenue By December 2023 $66,437.81

EXPENSES

Chinese New Year Contribution $1,000.00
Juneteenth Celebration Costs $8,000.00

Pride Festival $1,600.00
Miscellaneous Sponsorships $2,000.00

Community Outreach and Promotion $2,000.00
Façade Improvement and Small Business Grant Program $10,000.00

Total Expenses $24,600.00

Remaining Fund Balance $41,837.81


	2024 Proposed Budget EDC.pdf
	2024




